Countervailing Effects? Remittance Sending and the Physical and Mental Health of Migrants

Thesis

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Arts in the Graduate School of The Ohio State University

By

Coralia Balasca

Graduate Program in Sociology

The Ohio State University

2019

Thesis Committee

Reanne Frank, Advisor

Cynthia Colen

Kristi Williams

Copyrighted by

Coralia Balasca

2019

Abstract

Remittances, the money that immigrants send back to recipients in their country of origin, are one of the most prominent types of transnational economic ties and provide many migrants with continued interaction with family and friends who remain in their origin countries. These transactions may prove to be beneficial or detrimental to migrant mental and physical health. Using the New Immigrant Survey (NIS), I assess whether remittance-sending has countervailing associations with migrant mental and physical health. I hypothesize that remittance-sending puts migrants at a physical health disadvantage by depleting already lower incomes. I also hypothesize that remitting migrants experience a mental health bonus through fulfillment of family roles. Overall, I find that remittances are associated with a physical health disadvantage and only provide a mental health bonus under certain circumstances. I also find that the composition of migrants who select into remitting is consequential for health outcomes. And for both physical and mental health, the type of remittance transfer (to extended or nuclear family) and the magnitude of the transfer conditions the overall health impact, particularly for mental health. My findings underscore the complexity of transnational ties, in terms of who selects into transnational economic behavior (i.e. remittance sending), the type of behavior (magnitude and

type of remittance transfer), and the health	consequences, both physical and mental, of the	at
behavior.		

Acknowledgments

In writing, rewriting, reworking, and rethinking this thesis I would like to thank the many wonderful people who helped me along the way, with first and foremost being my supportive advisor Dr. Reanne Frank. Reanne tirelessly read draft after draft of my originally scattered thoughts and taught me how to begin to write and think like an academic. I would like to also thank Dr. Cindy Colen, Dr. Kristi Williams, Dr. Rachel Dwyer, Dr. Claudia Buchmann, and a multitude of fellow graduate students who so generously gave their time to help me with complex coding, flow, theory building, and surviving the biggest project of my graduate career thus far. These people include my supportive cohort of colleagues- Christina Bijou, Erick Axxe, Peter Choi, Man Yao, Chenyao Zhang, Nico Pinchak, and one of the first people to read an earlier version of my thesis- Luther Young. I would also like to thank my more senior colleagues including Paola Echave, Amelia Li, Jake Terrance, and Jasmine Whiteside for all of their help and encouragement. Lastly, I would also like to extend a thank you to my parents, Diana and Radu Balasca, who repeatedly asked to read drafts and look over presentations, knowing that this was out of their field, but still being the supportive parents that they have been since day one.

Vita

May 2012	James L. Mann High School, South Carolina
May 2016	Furman University, South Carolina
August 2017 to present	. The Ohio State University, Ohio

Fields of Study

Major Field: Sociology

Table of Contents

Abstract	iii
Acknowledgments	V
Vita	vi
List of Tables	viii
Chapter 1. Introduction	1
Chapter 2. Literature Review	5
Chapter 4. Data and Methods	16
Data	16
Measures	18
Analysis	19
Chapter 5. Results	21
Descriptive Statistics	21
Physical Health and Remittances	24
Mental Health and Remittances	34
Chapter 6. Conclusions and Discussions	42
Bibliography	49

List of Tables

Table 1. Descriptives	22
Table 2. Odds Ratios Predicting Positive SRH by Overall Remittance Sending	26
Table 3. Odds Ratios Predicting Positive SRH by Overall Remittance Type	28
Table 4. Odds Ratios Predicting Positive SRH by Remittance Magnitude	31
Table 5. Odds Ratios Predicting Positive Mental Health by Overall Remittance Sending	35
Table 6. Odds Ratios Predicting Positive Mental Health by Overall Remittance Type	36
Table 7. Odds Ratios Predicting Positive Mental Health by Remittance Magnitude	39

Chapter 1. Introduction

In 2016, remittance flows originating in the United States (US) exceeded \$138 billion (Pew Research Center 2018), making them one of the largest financial flows world-wide. For comparison, the US spent \$592.2 billion in total for Medicaid in 2016 (Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission 2018). The migrants sending these remittances form a network that participates in large international capital flows. Such maintained connections across national boundaries are known as transnational ties. A type of transnational tie, economic remittances now constitute the largest source of financial flows to developing countries after Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) and in many countries remittances now exceed FDI flows (Maimbo and Ratha 2005). Thus, remittance flows play an essential role in the economies of many developing nations and contribute to Gross Domestic Product (GDP) levels globally.

Remittances are highly consequential for the families that receive them. Many migrants leave their homes due to financial hardship and travel to the U.S. in search of economic opportunities with the intention of sending remittances to their families in their country of origin (Amuedo-Dorantes, Bansak, and Pozo 2005; Becerra and Kiehne 2016). For some migrants, remittances symbolize "the realization of a family's survival strategy" for financial support (Abrego 2009:1071), as families in the country of origin come to depend on these remittances for a wide range of needs. For instance, for Mexican households that receive remittances, their average monthly value is equivalent to a minimum wage salary (Zarate-Hoyos 2004).

Remittances clearly play a significant role in the lives of migrants and their families.

Remittances are not only valuable because of their transnational worth, but also because they impact patterns of stratification within countries of origin. Remittances have the potential to lift people in the country of origin out of poverty (Acosta et al. 2008). In this context, remittances may allow for long term asset accumulation by promoting the growth of other, non-remittance income (Taylor 1992). For example, a receiving family can use remittance income to purchase seeds for their farm in Mexico and then sell the crops produced by those seeds to yield higher crop incomes. As such, these monies are often used towards productive investment, rather than solely as supplemental income for consumption (Zarate-Hoyos 2004). A large number of case studies have demonstrated that, in addition to basic consumption, remittance receiving households also use these monies towards productive, educational, and health investments (Acosta et al. 2008; Dreby and Stutz 2012; Frank et al. 2009; Zarate-Hoyos 2004).

As stated, a majority of the existing literature on remittances focuses on remittance use in the country of origin. We know less about how remittances impact the migrants who send them, and even less about the impact of remittances on the sending migrant's health. My research will focus on the effects of remittances on the physical and mental health of sending migrants. First, I will test the hypothesis that remittance sending puts US-based migrants at a physical health disadvantage, potentially by narrowing the allotted budget for health expenditures in the US. Second, I will determine whether remittance sending improves mental health of senders by providing family role fulfillment and maintaining transnational ties. Jointly, I expect to find that remittance sending results in countervailing influences in the form of a physical health detriment but a mental health bonus for migrants who send them.

To address my research questions, I use data from the 2003 New Immigrant Survey (NIS), a nationally representative, cross-sectional survey of recently legalized immigrants in the United States. The NIS sample is made up of legal permanent residents (LPRs). This category includes family sponsored and employment-based immigrant visas as well as refugee and asylee visas. In addition to a variety of visa categorizations, the data contains a large enough sample to divide migrants by region of origin. Most importantly, this NIS data is particularly suited for this analysis because it is one of the only national representative surveys to include a remittance measure. Based on remittance related questions, I am additionally able to distinguish who is receiving the monies as well as the magnitude of remittances sent.

My analysis extends on prior research in several ways. First, beyond assessing the overall impact of remittance sending on health, I will also determine whether the relationship is conditioned by two additional factors. First, I will assess whether the health impacts vary by the magnitude of remittances sent. Second, I will determine if the type of receiver (i.e. immediate family or extended family/friends) matters for health. Distinguishing remittance sending by magnitude and type is key because previous findings in the small body of literature focusing particularly on remittance sending and health exhibits conflicting results, with some studies finding a mental health bonus while others find a detriment (Ambugo and Yahirun 2016; Amoyaw and Abada 2016). Multiple measures for remittance sending will allow me to distinguish important dimensions of remittance sending's impacts on health.

Whereas most prior research is focused on remittance receivers, this work fills a gap in the literature by focusing explicitly on remitting immigrants and examining the impact of remittances on their health. Further, this is the first paper to examine and compare both physical

and mental health outcomes for remitting immigrants within the same sample and to capture distinct aspects of remittance sending (i.e. magnitude and type). This analysis will use immigration and health theories to develop a deeper understanding of the mental and physical health components of remittance sending which have previously been undertheorized, and additionally focus on physical health which has been scantly addressed.

Understanding the role of remittances for health is important to redress the negative stereotypes around dependency and stunted development that frequently accompany discussion of remittance flows and the large volumes of money leaving the US (Luna 2017). These stereotypes do not account for the fact that migration as a whole, but also remittance sending in particular, have complex consequences. As these migrants strive to adapt to a new society, they also often become the sole or major supporters of the family members in the country of origin. These families often could not survive without their sacrifice, putting pressure on the migrants themselves. Disentangling these strong, complex social ties is important for changing the narrative on remittances and assessing their potential for positive impacts both at home and abroad. My research will also inform public debate by providing a better understanding of how remittances may impact the health of US-based migrants. In doing this, my research can provide a basis for effective policies aimed at helping immigrants meet their health needs.

Chapter 2. Literature Review

Transnationalism and Remittances

A large part of migration studies focuses on transnationalism—a theoretical perspective that takes into account the duality of the migrant experience (Acevedo-Garcia et al. 2012; Portes, Guarnizo, and Landolt 1999). This view of the interconnected world emerged from anthropology and sociology in reaction to world systems theory and increased globalization during the 1990s. Alejandro Portes (1999) developed transnationalism as a field of inquiry in response to the growing number, fluidity, and diversity of ties linking individuals worldwide. In order for ties between the country of origin and the receiving country to be considered transnational, scholars state that these ties must be sustained, resilient, and involve a significant proportion of migrants (Portes et al. 1999).

Scholars of transnationalism argue that political, economic, and social ties connect migrants across distances, over time, and these ties are consequential for the migrants that maintain them (Portes 2003). Migrants' daily lives may unfold largely in the US, but they often have sustained, transnational connections to their countries of origin. My research focuses on remittances, one component of economic transnational ties. As immigrants live between two worlds, they try to acclimate to their new environments while still maintaining cultural, family, and even financial ties (such as remittances) to their countries of origin.

Historically, transnationalism has occurred within the context of capitalist- or elite-driven globalization. In this form, transnationalism perpetuates exclusion, reinforcing class interests and distinctions through global capital. Large corporations use policy to directly benefit from the ties by perpetually placing migrants under subordination (Portes et al. 1999). This top down approach is "transnationalism from above" (1999:221). However, remittances are a specific example of what Portes (1997) refers to as "transnationalism from below" (1997:1). According to this perspective, individual immigrants construct transnational communities by choosing to maintain a variety of strong post-migration ties to their homeland. This autonomy allows immigrants to directly gain from networks abroad, despite living lives within an unequal US society. Essentially, transnational ties grant immigrants more independence by allowing them to participate in transnational exchange despite their remaining marginal to the American social and economic mainstream. According to Portes and his colleagues, remittances are one of the few possibilities for migrants and their families to gain a foothold in the capitalist driven system. In the existing literature, however, the impact of remittances has been largely assessed from the point of view of migrants' countries of origin. Very little empirical research has focused on the impact of remittances on the sending migrants.

Remittance Receivers

Economically, research initially linked remittances to conspicuous consumption (see Durand and Massey 1992 for a review of this literature) but recent research has moved away from that perspective and instead has argued that migrants are rational economic agents who invest in the economies of their home countries. In Mexico, for example, at the community level, remittances have been found to be crucial to investment in local infrastructure, accounting for 84% of all funds contributed towards capital improvement projects (Reichert 1981). At the household level, remittances in Mexico are used to grow family businesses by investing in agriculture and livestock (Zarate-Hoyos 2004).

Remittances have also been shown to impact educational outcomes and aspirations in the country of origin. Across a range of settings, studies show that a large portion of remittances are spent on education (Adams and Cuecuecha 2010; Curran et al. 2003; Lu and Treiman 2007; Semyonov and Gorodzeisky 2008; Vogel and Korinek 2012). Overall, children residing in remittance receiving households in El Salvador have increased school persistence (Edwards and Ureta 2003), higher educational aspirations in Mexico (Dreby and Stutz 2012), and greater enrollment in higher education in top remittance receiving countries (Arif et al. 2019), with remittances ultimately improving educational opportunities for many children worldwide.

As SES and education are social determinants of health, remittances may also influence the health of remittance receivers. Previous literature finds that monies sent from abroad improve the health of receivers in a multitude of ways in contexts ranging from Thailand to South Africa (Abas et al. 2009; Antman 2010; Dreby and Stutz 2012; Duryea, Lopez-Cardova, and Olmedo 2005; Kanaiaupuni and Donato 1999; Sidloyi and Bomela 2016). Remittances expand family budgets to allow for health-improving purchases, such as better food or housing in Mexico (Duryea et al. 2005). Remittances also mitigate some of the poverty of elderly recipients in South Africa (Sidloyi and Bomela 2016) and lessen parental depression through financial support in Thailand (Abas et al. 2009). However, mixed results exist, as Antman (2010) finds children's

migration to be detrimental to both the mental and physical health of elderly parents in Mexico, particularly outside the context of strong, maintained transnational ties.

Remittances have been found to increase access to healthcare. Medical conditions that may have been overlooked due to limited funds can be addressed if remittances are used to subsidize costs. For instance, remittances sent to Ecuador are used for preventive health procedures, helping alleviate later health expenditures (Ponce, Olivié, and Onofa 2011). In Mexico, a small survey of Tepoztlán residents demonstrated that remittances are used to access healthcare, since many residents in the country of origin are not covered by insurance (Frank et al. 2009; Frank and Hummer 2002). These health impacts can be seen most clearly in the elderly and children as remittances improve the chance of infant survival (Hildebrandt et al. 2005; Kanaiaupuni and Donato 1999) often by increasing maternal healthcare (Lindstrom and Muñoz-Franco 2006). Nguyen and Nguyen (2015) find that remittances are positively associated with the number of healthcare visits of both children and adolescents in Vietnam. Remittances not only improve health by increasing income, but Hildebrandt et al. (2005) find that having a migrant household member increases a mother's health knowledge. Overall, there is considerable evidence that remittances provide access to health improving benefits and improve health knowledge for families left behind.

Remittance Senders

Considerably fewer studies assess the impact of remittances on senders. The studies that do exist, largely focus on sender's motivations rather than the outcomes of remittance sending for the senders. Evidence suggests that sending remittances signifies migrants' continued

membership in the community of origin (Carling 2014). In some cases, continued membership leads to transnational entereprneurishp and investment, another branch of remittance literature focused on senders (Guarnizo 2003). Other literature examines the characteristics and demographics of the senders and their financial capacities, focused on determining what makes a migrant a remittance sender (Houle and Schellenberg 2008; Makina 2013). For instance, Makina (2013) finds that being married and male is predictive of remitting for migrants in South Africa. Houle and Shellenberg (2008) find that Canadian migrants aged 25 to 44 have the highest probabily of remitting and that men are slightly more likely to remit.

Only two studies have directly analyzed the impact of remittances on the health of senders. First, Amoyaw and Abada (2016) investigate the mental health cost and benefits for remittance senders in a Canadian sample. They find that remittance sending has a negative impact on mental health for immigrants living in Canada for less than six months. Yet remittance sending has a positive mental health impact for immigrants, especially women, who have spent more than 6 months in their new country. In a second study, Ambugo and Yahirun (2016) explore the relationship between remittances and mental health for a sample of legal permanent residents in the US. Using the NIS, they find that remitters have poorer mental health outcomes then non-remitters and this relationship holds regardless of gender, income or visa type. However, the authors do not assess different dimensions of remittance sending beyond a dichotomous yes/no indicator. Neither of these prior studies considers the role of physical health.

Remittances and Health Mechanisms

Positive Impacts

Sudden removal from networks and familiar contexts can be difficult and lead to profound feelings of loss for migrants and their loved ones (Marchetti-Mercer 2016). However, with improvements in communication technologies, such as the great expansion and affordability of internet access and transport, migrants can increasingly maintain meaningful ties to their countries of origin. Technology in particular "enables people to negotiate the physical absence of loved ones ... (and) allows relationships to be maintained, despite distance" (Marchetti-Mercer 2016). One of the ways that migrants maintain transnational connections comes in the form of remittances (åKesson 2009).

Remittances are often obligations (VanWey 2004), responsibilities, and moral commitments to help family or elderly parents (åKesson 2009). Migrants who migrate for economic reasons may be especially expected to help their families. Beyond their clear financial benefit, qualitative research has revealed remittances to be a sign of fidelity and an expression of love (McKenzie and Menjívar 2011). Honduran women in McKenzie and Menjívar's (2011) sample express the wish that their husbands and sons had not migrated, despite the financial support that these men provide via remittances. However, the remittances helped alleviate some of the stress and sadness of family separation. Fear, loneliness, and stress are common emotions experienced by transnational families, whose members come to live separate, often completely changed lives in different countries. Family left behind often live in fear of marriage or family dissolution due to the physical separation of migration. In this sense, remittances can assure women that their men have not forgotten them and assure the elderly that their children still remember and care for

them (McKenzie and Menjívar 2011; åKesson 2009). These non-economic interpretations of remittances show commitment by symbolizing the emotional comfort of regular contact.

Essentially, beyond their financial benefits, remittances provide emotional assurance and a sense of belonging.

Joarder et al. (2017) finds that the most important determinant of a migrant's happiness is the amount of remittances sent, as remittances symbolize fulfilling their family member role through care for those whom they have left behind. In his Bangladeshi sample, higher remittances were associated with higher life satisfaction of migrants. Research also shows that family role fulfillment is associated with an increase in mental health (Kim et al. 2011). This is especially true for men providing financial support (Simon 1995). Thus, remittances may serve to fulfill family obligations and engender positive mental health among senders.

Negative Impacts

While remittances have the ability to positively impact migrant's mental health in the ways discussed, these monies could also have negative impacts on the senders. Family responsibilities and socioeconomic status (SES) intertwine to impact migrant's health outcomes. The extended family system is one of the most important factors in the lives of immigrants (Bacallao and Smokowski 2007). Cultural and familial responsibilities can take many forms, including financial support through remittances. While the altruistic remitting role was traditionally held by fathers as heads of the household, this role has globally shifted to include mothers, directly placing the socioeconomic pressures on families as a whole. Circumstances leading to migrant's inability to fulfill remittance sending expectations, along with the deep need

and reliance of those in the country of origin on remittances may conversely provide a mental health detriment for remitters.

Further, exposure to economic hardship in the US is a well-documented aspect of migrants' economic opportunities relative to natives (Abrego 2009). Immigrant men and women are comparatively disadvantaged from the moment that they enter the US labor market. Thus, some immigrant groups are placed on the lower rungs of an already stratified system (Acevedo-Garcia et al. 2010; Portes and Rumbaut 2014), which subsequently limits their income and economic resources, particularly within the first few months of residence in the US. This is even true of immigrant groups with higher SES, who come to the US to find that their experience or education is not equivalated, often obliging them to take jobs below their qualifications (Painter and Qian 2016). Low-income households must allocate limited resources to competing bottom line necessities, which often outweigh health needs (Majerol et al. 2016). If remittance expectations become bottom line necessities, then economic pressures or hardship could lead to further psychological distress (Pearlin 1989), ultimately impacting mental and physical health.

The correlation between low SES and adverse health outcomes has been well studied (Braveman et al. 2010; Pampel, Krueger, and Denney 2010; Stringhini et al. 2011). Literature on the social determinants of health provides evidence for how health is differentially impacted by social institutions such as family, employment and school. It shows that an individual's health is not limited to biological determinants but is also strongly associated with SES, neighborhood context, and other factors (Anderson et al. 2004; Egede 2006; Hernandez, Blazer, and Institute of Medicine 2006). This health research framework attempts to disentangle the external factors that improve, maintain, or are detrimental to health. Immigrant families in particular may face several

barriers to healthcare and risks to their health that are directly associated with class standing as well as with the demanding labor of jobs associated with their class standing (Derose, Escarce, and Lurie 2007; Parra-Cardona et al. 2006).

Emotionally, migrants experience the direct impact of being separated from their families. While remittances may alleviate part of this impact by helping maintain connections and support abroad, the physical separation may still exist, with remittances serving as a reminder that one's family, friends, and past lives are forever at a distance. Support networks in the countries of origin more than often do not transfer to an immigrant's destination. Being responsible for developing new support networks in the US, while still feeling pressure to support one's older networks in the country of origin may be overwhelming for US based migrants.

Remittance sending may deplete immigrants' disposable income, particularly the already lower income of labor migrants. Actual disposable income must take into account remittances, which are sent over long periods and in varying amounts (Mohapatra, Ratha, and Silwal 2011). US-based migrants use this decreased income for a range of living and health expenses from housing to food and health care (Acevedo-Garcia et al. 2012). This is supported by Ponce et al.'s (2011) findings that while remittances do not impact overall health, they impact receivers' expenditure on preventive care and subsidize healthcare shocks in Ecuador. Remittances may operate similarly in the immigrant receiving county (in this case the US), where loss of income via remittances may not impact direct health care access but may impact preventive care. Loss of income is more detrimental, as some forms of preventive care are not covered by insurance, and those who are uninsured, partially insured, or publicly insured are less likely than those under

private insurance to utilize preventive care (Irwin et al. 2009). Remittances limit the resources that can be used towards other goals such as personal needs, living expenses, or education (Acevedo-Garcia and Almeida 2012; Mossakowski 2003). In this way, remittances may add another burden to an already economically and emotionally burdened population.

In summary, the few studies that consider the relationship between remittances and health in the sending county focus on the characteristics of remitters and reasons for their investment in the country of origin. The missing evidentiary link in all of this research is remittances' impact on the migrants that send them. Only two studies (Ambugo and Yahirun 2016; Amoyaw and Abada 2016) consider the role of remittances on migrant mental health. Building on their work, I consider both mental and physical health outcomes of remitters, allowing for countervailing associations.

I first consider how remittance sending may have adverse effects on the physical health of migrants to the US. Remittances may cause a decrease in money available for health expenditure within the US, particularly for the un-insured or under-insured. If so, remittance sending could contribute to the documented decline in health that occurs with more time in the United States, in accordance with the pattern put forth in the Healthy Immigrant Paradox. Moving to the US places some immigrants at a structural disadvantage to natives in terms of obtaining health resources, as some neighborhoods, particularly low SES neighborhoods, lack access to resources such as health clinics. Sending of remittances may exacerbate those differences. Conversely, remittance sending may have positive mental health effects for migrants, operating as a way to maintain family ties and invest in a future at home. As immigrants are placed into a highly racialized and stratified context, their abilities to look to

those at home for support and identity may lead to better mental health outcomes. Since remittances maintain transnational ties, they may operate as one mechanism of mutual support. Yet while fulfillment of family roles through financial support may produce a mental health bonus, the pressure to fulfill those roles across geographic space may lead to a mental health detriment.

Chapter 4. Data and Methods

Data

I will explore whether remitting is associated with a mental health bonus, but a physical health detriment for remitters, using data from the New Immigrant Survey (NIS), one of the few nationally representative samples of US immigrants, specifically immigrants who recently attained legal permanent residency. The sample includes newly arrived immigrants and immigrants already in the US with temporary non-immigrant visas (or undocumented immigrants) who were able to adjust their status to lawful permanent residence. The NIS is a panel survey that is drawn from a probability sample of administrative records of the United States Citizenship and Immigration Services (USCIS). The sampling frame was developed based on electronic administrative records from the US Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS). The sampling frame contains 12,500 adults and 1,250 children. Children's interviews were conducted through a parental proxy. In total 8,573 adult and 810 child interviews were completed between May and November of 2003.

The NIS contains measures for both physical and mental health as well as remittances.

The NIS is ideal for the research questions assessed here because it is one of the few national surveys that collects information on remittances. Moreover, the national sample includes many different immigrant groups within the US. Use of the NIS will mean that any findings are limited to this population of new legal permanent residents; I cannot examine income and health impacts

of currently undocumented immigrants, immigrants from sending nations outside of those most represented, immigrants who are naturalized citizens, or more recent migrants including recent waves of refugees including Somalians, Syrians and Sudanese. Nor can I examine the health of immigrant's counterparts in the country of origin (Riosmena, Kuhn, and Jochem 2017) in order to better understand prior health histories. However, no other data set currently incorporates all of those groups and measures on a national level. My study aims to establish an association between remittances sent to the country of origin and health outcomes in the US. It will also assess the role of remittance size and type in hopes of spurring more work on mechanisms that lead to differential health outcomes for those who send remittances to their countries of origin versus those who do not.

Missing Data

Using the 20%/80% skip pattern that exists in the transfers questionnaire, of the total sample of 8,573, a total of 6,676 cases responded to at least one of the questions regarding remittance sending. Respondents that did not get asked were dropped. For the analytic sample for the self-rated physical health outcome, I dropped 10 cases missing information on my main dependent variable, self-rated health. I further excluded cases missing on age, race, marital status, region, and education for a total of 212 additional dropped cases from the 6,676 sample. No missing cases existed for gender or visa type. For my analytic sample for mental health, I excluded 342 cases which were missing data on the mental health question. I additionally excluded cases missing on controls for a total of 529 dropped cases. As with the self-rated health sample, no cases were missing for gender or visa type. Overall my self-rated health analytic

sample consisted of 6,464 respondents and my mental health analytic sample contained 6,147 respondents.

Measures

My dependent variables capture physical and mental health. I will use a self-rated health¹ measure to capture the physical health of migrants. This measure of health may be limited by reliability of self-assessment, but researchers find self-rated health to be a robust measure in its prediction of mortality, and overall health (Mossey and Shapiro 1982; Miilunpalo et al. 1997). Further, self-rated health is a validated measure of health statuses of different ethnic groups (Chandola and Jenkinson 2000). In this research, I use the following self-rated health question: "Would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair, or poor?" Using the five health outcomes, I combined excellent and very good health and all other types of health (good, fair, and poor) creating a dichotomous indicator predicting excellent/very good health versus good, fair, or poor health.

To assess the association between remittances and mental health, I will use a question from the NIS that discerns whether respondents have felt "sad, blue, or depressed" for two weeks or more in the past 12 months. Response options are "Yes," "No," or "Did not feel depressed because on anti-depressant medication (if respondents volunteered this information)." I dropped the 11 respondents who volunteered information on anti-depressants and created a dichotomous indicator of mental health predicting good mental health (not having felt sad or depressed in the past 12 months).

¹ While the NIS contains measures asking immigrants if a doctor has diagnosed them of conditions ranging from high blood sugar to diabetes, self-rated health is a more objective measure because being able to pay for a doctor to begin with is part of the focus of the study.

Remittances will be measured using the "Transfers" section of the survey. It asks respondents whether they have given (or received) financial assistance, if so, in what amounts, and specifically to what group of family members or friends. I create three different remittance variables meant to discern the different ways in which remittance sending may impact health. I first create a binary variable for sending versus not sending of remittances to examine the overall association. Second, I create a remittance variable that discerns whom these monies are sent to, distinguishing by remittances sent to one's nuclear family (children and spouses) or extended family (parents, siblings, cousins, etc. or friends) versus non remittance sending respondents. Lastly, I create a remittance magnitude variable, converting all currency data to USD using purchasing power parity* to reflect country specific currencies and values. I calculate the average amount of remittances sent among remitters in the sample (\$2,583.97 per year), then classify respondents as sending either below or above average remittance amounts.

Analysis

I run ten different logistic regression models, 5 that assess the self-reported physical health outcome and 5 the mental health outcome. I first look at the association of the binary remittance sending variable with physical and mental health. Next, I take into account the role of remittance type to see if who a remitter is sending monies to matters, switching out the reference categories between non-remitters and remitters sending to extended family to assess all possible contrasts. Lastly, I look at whether remittance magnitude matters for the relationship between

^{*} Purchasing power parity accounts for the different costs of the same items around the world, and thus will allow for economic comparisons across countries without taking into account fluctuating exchange rates.

remittance sending and health, again switching out reference groups between non-remitters and remitters sending below average amounts. In the analyses, I use education as a measure of SES because income is missing for more than half the NIS sample (see limitations section page 46). I also add sample weights and control for age, gender, marital status, race, visa type, and region of origin.

Chapter 5. Results

Descriptive Statistics

The general analytic sample (Table 1) consists of 6,464 LPRs, with slightly more males (51.81%) then females (48.19%). There is considerable region of origin diversity in the NIS sample. Almost half of the NIS migrants (47.14%) come from South/Central America and Asia, as expected of migration flows during the early 2000s. The diversity in migrant's regions of origin is also reflected in migrant's race/ethnicity, with 30.80% of the sample classifying as Hispanic, 29.33% as Asian, and 22.65% as Non-Hispanic White. Of the sample, 36.71% hold a family reunification visa, closely followed by employment visas at 19.31% and diversity visas at 18.86%. At 47.05%, almost half of the sample has an education of high school or less. With 52.95% reporting Bachelor's attainment or higher, this sample is more highly educated then the general immigrant population of the U.S.- 30% of whom reported having a Bachelor's degrees or higher (Krogstad and Radford 2018). In terms of the outcome variables, 12.47% of the sample reported negative mental health, and 34.19% reported negative physical health. In terms of the focal independent variable, 19% of the sample remits. Looking at remittance types and magnitudes, we see that 58.97% of remitters send money to extended family and friends, while a smaller 40.03% send money to nuclear families. Similarly, remitters tend to send below average amounts, as 64.43% of remitters send less then (\$2583.97-the average remittance amount) and about half as much (35.57%) send more than average.

When distinguishing the sample by remittance sending (Table 1, Columns 2 and 3), we see that remitters are similar to non-remitters on some dimensions but also differ from non-remitters in important ways. Remitters and non-remitters are, on average, middle-aged but

remitters are significantly more likely to be married [though marital statuses for both groups are higher than those of the US population as a whole (Parker and Stepler 2017)]. Remitters are more likely to be male, non-White, more educated, and tend to be in the US on an employment visa. Thus, among this sample of LPRs, remitters are more advantaged in terms of education level and visa type. This matches characteristics traditionally ascribed to employment migrants, where heads of household, typically males, migrate for employment opportunities in order to send money back to their families. However, the higher education status of remitters in the sample lines up with characteristics of professional migrants. In terms of the outcome variables, there are only slight and non-significant differences between remitters and non-remitters in terms of physical health, but there are significant differences in mental health, with remitters reporting worse mental health. There are minor differences between my physical and mental health analytic samples due to a loss of 317 cases in the mental health sample caused by non-response.

Table 1. Descriptives

Table 1a: NIS Physical Health Analytic Sample Descriptives (N=6,464)*				
	Total Sample	Total Sample Non-Remitters		
Variable Name	Mean (or %)	Mean (or %)	Mean (or %)	
Gender***				
Male	51.81	49.87	60.10	
Female	48.19	50.13	39.90	
Age (st. dev.)***	54.27 (13.93)	54.33 (14.58)	53.99 (10.73)	
Race/Ethnicity***				
Non-Hispanic White	22.65	23.80	17.75	
Non-Hispanic Black	13.57	13.41	14.25	
Hispanic	30.80	30.29	32.98	
Asian	29.33	28.78	31.68	
Other (NA/Hawaii/PI)	3.65	3.72	3.34	
Marital Status***				

36.76	38.73	28.34
63.24	61.27	71.66
14.08	14.95	10.34
	23.66	28.50
15.24	15.99	12.05
22.56	22.50	22.08
12.18	11.97	13.03
9.72	9.19	11.97
1.66	1.74	1.30
36.71	39.71	23.94
19.31	17.02	29.07
18.86	19.25	17.18
6.44	6.25	7.25
18.69	17.78	22.56
47.05	48.11	42.51
31.17	30.94	32.17
21.78	20.95	25.33
65.81	65.89	65.47
34.19	34.11	34.53
mo. Y/N)***		
12.47	11.76	15.46
87.53	88.24	84.54
-	-	40.03
-	-	58.97
-	-	35.57
-	-	64.43
6,464	5,236	1,228
	63.24 14.08 24.58 15.24 22.56 12.18 9.72 1.66 36.71 19.31 18.86 6.44 18.69 47.05 31.17 21.78 65.81 34.19 mo. Y/N)*** 12.47 87.53	63.24 61.27 14.08 14.95 24.58 23.66 15.24 15.99 22.56 22.50 12.18 11.97 9.72 9.19 1.66 1.74 36.71 39.71 19.31 17.02 18.86 19.25 6.44 6.25 18.69 17.78 47.05 48.11 31.17 30.94 21.78 20.95 65.81 65.89 34.19 34.11 mo. Y/N)*** 12.47 11.76 87.53 88.24

Physical Health and Remittances

The first set of tables present the results from a series of logistic regression models predicting positive self-rated physical health, with different measurement schemas for the remittance variable (Tables 2-4b). I first assess whether remittance sending itself impacts self rated health (Table 2). Next, I assess whether the relationship between remittance sending and health is conditioned by the types of remittances migrants send (Tables 3a and 3b) or the magnitude of those remittances (Tables 4a and 4b). Table 2 includes the binary remittance variable and tables 3a and 3b include the remittance type variable, switching out reference groups to better assess the relationships among remitting to nuclear family members, extended family members, or not remitting at all. Lastly, Tables 4a and 4b include a dichotomous remittance variable measuring the magnitude of remittance transfers relative to the mean remittances sent per household. The first model in all tables is the baseline model which only includes one of the three remittance variables predicting the health outcomes. The second model controls for basic demographic characteristics (gender, age, race, and marital status). The third model controls for two additional migration-related variables, region of origin and visa type. The fourth and final model in all analyses includes education as a control for SES, where respondent's education is classified as high school or less, some college, or an advanced degree(s).

Starting with the physical health models (Table 2), the results demonstrate that there is not a significant relationship between remittance sending and physical health (Model 1), even after accounting for the demographic controls (Model 2). Gender and age are highly significant predictors of physical health, with lower odds of positive health for women and older

respondents (p<0.001). Marital status is only a marginally positive significant predictor of physical health in this sample of immigrants, an association that loses significance in Model 2 when the demographic controls are included in the model. Model 3 accounts for region of origin and visa type. Compared to all other immigrant origin groups with the exception of Asia, migrants from Mexico have significantly worse self-rated health. The odds of having positive health are 55.8% and 40.4% higher for immigrants holding employment and diversity visas, respectively, compared to family reunification visas (p<0.001 and p<0.01). Refugees and asylees have 29.3% lower odds of having positive mental health (p<0.01).

After accounting for region of origin and visa type in Model 3, the negative relationship between remitting and physical health attains significance at the .01 level and persists after accounting for education level in Model 4. In the final model, the odds of reporting positive physical health are 17.3% lower for remitters (p<0.01) compared to non-remitters. Importantly, remitter's decreased odds of reporting positive health is only significant after accounting for the variation in who sends remittances, suggesting a suppressor effect. As evident in Table 1, among this sample of LPRs, remitters are more likely than non-remitters to gain permanent residency via employment visas and they are more likely to come from Africa and South America (Table 1), and be highly educated, all statuses that are associated with better self-rated health. Controlling for visa type, region, and education level accounts for the overrepresentation of remitters among those that report better self-rated health. Consequently, it is only after controlling for these factors that the significant and negative relationship between remitting and physical health becomes apparent.

Table 2. Odds Ratios Predicting Positive SRH by Overall Remittance Sending

Table 2: The Odds of Having Positive Health by Overall Remittance Sending (n=6,464)

	(6)	•		
Remittance Sending	Model 1:	Model 2:	Model 3:	Model 4:
Remitting (vs. Not Remitting)	0.959	0.914	0.836**	0.827**
Female (vs . Male)	-	0.629***	0.648***	0.661***
Age ²	-	0.513***	0.555***	0.571***
Race (vs. Non-Hispanic White)				
Non-Hispanic Black	-	1.029	0.871	0.905
Hispanic	-	0.561***	0.781	0.831
Asian	-	0.900	1.125	1.146
Other	-	0.543***	0.730	0.784
Married (vs. Not Married)	-	1.115†	1.043	1.017
Region (vs. Mexico)				
South/Central America	-	-	2.008***	1.879***
Europe	-	-	1.755**	1.484†
Asia	-	-	1.378	1.199
India/Middle East	-	-	1.554*	1.304
Africa	-	-	2.689***	2.335***
NAO*	-	-	6.430***	4.917***
Visa (vs. Family Reunification)				
Employment	-	-	2.032***	1.558***
Diversity	-	-	1.652***	1.404**
Refugee/Asylee	-	-	0.725**	0.707**
Other	-	-	0.955	0.965
Education (vs. High School or				
Less)				
College	-	-	-	1.718***
Advanced		-	-	2.096***
p<0.1 [†] p<0.05* p<0.01** P<0.001***				
* NAO= North America, Arctic, and Oceania				c, and Oceania

To test for the possibility that different types of remittance sending are more consequential for health than others, the next set of models distinguishes remittance sending by the type of remittance recipient (Tables 3a and 3b). Specifically, I distinguish between those who report sending remittances to nuclear family members versus extended family members/friends. Compared to non-remitters, those remitting to nuclear family members have marginally significant lower odds of having positive health (p<0.1). Those remitting to extended family have slightly higher odds of reporting positive SRH then non-remitters, but this relationship is not statistically significant. Controlling for gender, age, and race in Model 2, the marginally significant decreased odds of reporting positive physical health among those who remit to nuclear family members (compared to those who do not remit at all) loses significance, but the extended family comparison (vs. not remitting) becomes marginally significant and negative (Model 2). Controlling for the migration variables in Model 3 also increases the negative physical impact of remitting to extended family/friends on the odds of reporting positive health compared to those who do not remit. By Model 4, which additionally controls for education level, those remitting to extended family have 22.3% lower odds of having positive health than non-remitters (p<0.01). In contrast, there is no significant difference between those remitting to immediate family and those not remitting to anyone in the odds of reporting positive physical health.

In order to directly compare remitting to nuclear versus extended family, we turn to Table 3b. The results demonstrate that remitting to one's nuclear family is significantly associated with a 21.10% percent lower odds of reporting positive health compared to remitting to one's extended family. Thus, remitting to one's nuclear family has a negative impact on self-rated

health, but that impact is rendered insignificant once demographic controls are introduced in Model 2. Table 3b again shows that, once controls are added for demographic background factors and migration-related variables in Models 2 and 3, non-remitters have significantly higher odds of reporting positive health compared to those who remit to extended family (28.7% higher odds of having positive health then those remitting to extended family in Model 4, p<0.001). Comparing across tables 3a and 3b, the consistent negative health association occurs when remitters to extended family/friends are compared to non-remitters. Additionally, this set of tables again demonstrates that compositional differences between remitter and non-remitters play an important role in the association between remittance sending and physical health outcomes.

Table 3. Odds Ratios Predicting Positive SRH by Overall Remittance Type

3a: The Odds of Having Positive Health by Type of Remittance Receivers (n=6,464)				
Davids on Cardi	Model 1:	Model 2:	Model 3:	Model 4:
Remittance Sending				
Remitting (vs. Not Remitting)				
Nuclear Family	0.837†	0.987	0.896	0.896
Extended Family	1.061	0.861†	0.792**	0.777**
Female (vs . Male)	-	0.630***	0.649***	0.662***
Age ²	-	0.511***	0.553***	0.568***
Race (vs. Non-Hispanic White)				
Non-Hispanic Black	-	1.028	0.872	0.906
Hispanic	-	0.560***	0.780	0.830
Asian	-	0.903	1.128	1.149
Other	-	0.542***	0.729	0.783
Married (vs. Not Married)	-	1.114†	1.041	1.015
Region (vs. Mexico)				

South/Central America	-	-	1.999***	1.870***	
Europe	-	-	1.750**	1.478†	
Asia	-	-	1.373	1.193	
India/Middle East	-	-	1.553*	1.302	
Africa	-	-	2.678***	2.323***	
NAO*	-	-	6.399***	4.892***	
Visa (vs. Family Reunification)					
Employment	-	-	2.042***	1.566***	
Diversity	-	-	1.652***	1.403**	
Refugee/Asylee	-	-	0.727**	0.709**	
Other	-	-	0.954	0.964	
Education (vs. High School or					
Less)					
College	-	-	-	1.722***	
Advanced	-	-	-	2.095***	
		p<0.1 [†] p<0.05* p<0.01** P<0.001***			
	* NAO= North America, Arctic, and Oceania				

3b: The Odds of Having Positive Health by Type of Remittance Receivers (n=6464)

	Model 1:	Model 2:	Model 3:	Model 4:
Remittance Sending				
Remitting (vs. Extended Family)				
Nuclear Family	0.789*	1.146	1.131	1.153
Non-remitting	0.943	1.162†	1.262**	1.287**
Female (vs . Male)	-	0.630***	0.649***	0.662***
Age ²	-	0.511***	0.553***	0.568***
Race (vs. Non-Hispanic White)				
Non-Hispanic Black	-	1.028	0.872	0.906
Hispanic	-	0.560***	0.780	0.830
Asian	-	0.903	1.128	1.149
Other	-	0.542***	0.729	0.783
Married (vs. Not Married)	-	1.114†	1.041	1.015
Region (vs. Mexico)				
South/Central America	-	-	1.999***	1.870***
Europe	-	-	1.750**	1.478†
Asia	-	-	1.373	1.193

India/Middle East	-	-	1.554*	1.302
Africa	-	-	2.678***	2.323***
NAO*	-	-	6.399***	4.892***
Visa (vs. Family Reunification)				
Employment	-	-	2.042***	1.566***
Diversity	=	-	1.652***	1.403**
Refugee/Asylee	-	-	0.727**	0.709**
Other	=	-	0.954	0.964
Education (vs. High School or				
Less)				
College	-	-	-	1.722***
Advanced	-	-	-	2.095***
p<0.1 [†] p<0.05* p<0.01** P<0.001***				
	* NAO= North America, Arctic, and Oceania			

The next set of models attempt to distinguish remittance sending by the magnitude of the remittances, since the amounts of money that migrants send may matter in ways that are consequential for health (Tables 4a and 4b). In terms of magnitude of remittance sending, Model 1, Table 4a demonstrates that migrants who remit above average amounts are more likely to report positive health then non-remitters, but this relationship is entirely accounted for and loses significance when controlling for the demographics in Model 2. Model 1 also demonstrates that those sending below average amounts of remittances are less likely to report positive health compared to non-remitters, a relationship that holds even when additional controls are included in Models 2-4. Adjusting for gender, age, race, region, visa type and SES, migrants remitting below average amounts are 24.4% less likely to report having positive health (p<0.001).

Table 4b switches the reference categories in order to directly compare the effects of remitting above average amounts compared to below average amounts. Among remitters, migrants remitting above average are significantly more likely to experience positive health then those who remit below average. In the full model (4), compared to those who remit below

average amounts, migrants who remit above average amounts are 32 percent more likely to report positive SRH. Thus, those who remit below average amounts are significantly less likely to report positive SRH compared to non-remitters or above average remitters, above and beyond demographic, migration-related, and SES controls.

Table 4. Odds Ratios Predicting Positive SRH by Remittance Magnitude

	Model	Model	Model	Model
	1:	2:	3:	4:
Remittance Sending				
Remitting Magnitude (vs. Non-		-		
remitting)				
Above Average	1.364**	1.152	1.043	0.998
Below Average	0.809**	0.801**	0.753***	0.756***
Female (vs . Male)	-	0.628***	0.650***	0.662***
Age²	-	0.498***	0.554***	0.570***
Race (vs. Non-Hispanic White)				
Non-Hispanic Black	-	1.052	0.866	0.901
Hispanic	-	0.584***	0.785	0.836
Asian	-	0.908	1.122	1.143
Other	-	0.560***	0.733	0.787
Married (vs. Not Married)	-	1.113†	1.044	1.018
Region (vs. Mexico)				
South/Central America	-	-	2.017***	1.887***
Europe	-	-	1.755**	1.486†
Asia	-	-	1.378	1.200
India/Middle East	-	-	1.545*	1.299
Africa	-	-	2.686***	2.336***
NAO*	_	_	6.413***	4.915***

Visa (vs. Family Reunification)				
Employment	=	-	2.004***	1.543***
Diversity	-	-	1.641***	1.397**
Refugee/Asylee	-	-	0.725**	0.707**
Other	-	-	0.955	0.965
Education (vs. High School or Less)				
College	-	-	-	1.714***
Advanced	-	-	-	2.080***
	p<0.1 [†] p<0.05* p<0.01** P<0.001***			
	* NAO= North America, Arctic, and Oceania			

	Model	Model	Model	Model
	2:	3:	4:	5:
Remittance Sending				
Remitting Magnitude (vs. Below		-		
Average)				
Above Average	1.678***	1.457**	1.386*	1.320*
Non-remitting	1.235**	1.238**	1.328***	1.322***
Female (vs. Male)	-	0.630***	0.650***	0.662***
Age ²	-	0.514***	0.554***	0.570***
Race (vs. Non-Hispanic White)				
Non-Hispanic Black	-	1.026	0.866	0.901
Hispanic	-	0.569***	0.785	0.836
Asian	-	0.896	1.122	1.143
Other	-	0.548***	0.733	0.787
Married (vs. Not Married)	-	1.113†	1.044	1.018
Region (vs. Mexico)				
South/Central America	-	-	2.017***	1.887***
Europe	-	-	1.755**	1.486†
Asia	-	-	1.378	1.200
India/Middle East	-	-	1.545*	1.299
Africa	-	-	2.686***	2.336***
NAO*	-	-	6.413***	4.915***
Visa (vs. Family Reunification)				
Employment	-	-	2.004***	1.543***
Diversity	-	-	1.641***	1.397**

Refugee/Asylee	-	-	0.725**	0.707**
Other	-	-	0.955	0.965
Education (vs. High School or Less)				
College	-	-	-	1.714***
Advanced	-	-	-	2.080***
p<0.1 ⁺ p<0.05* p<0.01** P<0.001***				
		* NAO= North America, Arctic, and Oceania		

In sum, the physical health models demonstrate the important role of selection in conditioning the impact of remittance sending on health. Selection into remitting is patterned in a way that is consequential for the relationship between remittance sending and health.

Employment migrants are more likely to be remitters, and remitters tend to be more highly educated, factors that are all associated with better self-rated health. As a result, there is a suppressor effect and in the uncontrolled model, remittance sending appears to be unrelated to physical health. However, once these factors are accounted for, a negative association emerges between remittance sending and physical health such that those who send remittances are 15 percent less likely to report positive health than those migrants who do not.

The results also show that equally important to the propensity to remit is the type of remittances, as well as the magnitude of these monies. Immigrants remitting to extended family experience more of a physical health detriment than those not remitting. Compared to those who remit to nuclear family members, immigrants remitting to extended family appear to experience a physical health bonus (Model 1, Table 3b), although this association is entirely accounted for by differences in demographic profiles between the two remitting types (Model 2, Table 3b). Additionally, after controlling for all additional variables, those remitting lower amounts experience a significant physical health detriment.

Mental Health and Remittances

Similar to physical health, Tables 5-7b present the nested logistical regressions for mental health. Unlike the physical health models, the mental health models demonstrate an association between remittances and mental health even before accounting for the selection of higher SES individuals into remittance sending (Table 5, Models 1 and 2). Remitters have 28.7% lower odds of reporting positive mental health compared to non-remitters in the uncontrolled model (Table 5, Model 1 p<0.001). While gender and marital status play a significant role in the relationship between remittance sending and mental health, age is not significant (Model 2, both p<0.001). With the addition of migration controls in Model 3, the results show that region of origin and visa type matter less for respondent's mental health then their physical health shown by the smaller, less significant ORs. Compared to Mexican respondents, respondents from Europe, Asia, and India or the Middle East have higher odds of having positive mental health. There is no significant difference in the odds of positive mental health for migrants originating in South/Central America compared to those originating in Mexico. Refugees are less likely to report positive mental health, while employment visa recipients are more likely to report positive mental health. Model 4 demonstrates that refugees have 34.6% lower odds of reporting positive mental health, compared to family reunification visa holders (p<0.01). Education is a stronger predictor of positive physical health outcomes then mental health. Respondents with advanced degrees have 30.8% higher odds of positive mental health then those with high school education or less (p<0.05) and were shown to be 2.10 times more likely to have positive physical health (p<0.001). Remittance sending remains highly significant throughout models with the addition of demographic, migration, and SES controls. In fact, the negative impact of remittance sending

becomes more pronounced when controlling for other explanatory variables (Model 4). In the full model (Model 4) remittance senders have 34.7% lower odds of reporting positive mental health than migrants who do not send remittances (p<0.001).

Table 5. Odds Ratios Predicting Positive Mental Health by Overall Remittance Sending

Table 5: The Odds of Having Positive Mental Health by Overall Remittance Sending (n=6,147) Model 1: Model 2: Model 3: Model 4: **Remittance Sending** Remitting vs. (Not Remitting) 0.713*** 0.661*** 0.655*** 0.653*** 0.661*** Female (vs . Male) 0.652*** 0.656*** Age² 0.955 0.979 0.985 Race (vs. Non-Hispanic White) Non-Hispanic Black 0.931 1.856* 1.890* Hispanic 0.518*** 1.001 1.025 Asian 1.259† 1.293 1.302 Other 0.450*** 0.762 0.786 Married (vs. Not Married) 1.492*** 1.425*** 1.415*** Region (vs. Mexico) South/Central America 0.923 0.907 2.168** 2.078** Europe Asia 1.636† 1.597† India/Middle East 1.956* 1.883* Africa 1.015 0.982 NAO* 1.311 1.431 Visa (vs. Family Reunification) **Employment** 1.394† 1.270 Diversity 1.052 1.001 0.654** Refugee/Asylee 0.663* Other 1.034 1.035 **Education (vs. High School or** Less)

College	-	-	-	1.105	
Advanced	-	-	-	1.308*	
	p<0.1 [†] p<0.05* p<0.01** P<0.001***				
		* NAO= North America, Arctic, and Oceania			

Turning to our remittance type comparisons (Table 6a), remitting to both nuclear and extended family has negative mental health impacts, but when remitting to nuclear family the negative impact is most pronounced. In the uncontrolled model, the odds of reporting positive mental health are 35.1% lower for those remitting to nuclear family (p<0.001) and 24.5% lower for those remitting to extended family (p<0.01) compared to non-remitters. Model 4 demonstrates that both types of remittances (to immediate family and to extended family/friends) are significantly and negatively associated with positive mental health compared to non-remitting, with very small differences in magnitude of the associations. For mental health, the difference between sending to nuclear family versus extended family/friends is not consequential (Table 6b, Model 4). Table 6b demonstrates that the key cleaver is whether you remit or not, not to whom you remit. There are no significant differences when one compares immediate family remitters to extended family/friend remitters.

Table 6. Odds Ratios Predicting Positive Mental Health by Overall Remittance Type

6a: The Odds of Having Positive Mental Health by Type of Remittance Receiver (n=6,147)					
Model 1: Model 2: Model 3: Model 4:					
Remittance Sending					
Remitting (vs. Non-remitting)					
Nuclear Family	0.649***	0.624***	0.629***	0.628***	
Extended Family	0.765*	0.691**	0.675***	0.674***	
Female (vs. Male)	-	0.651***	0.656***	0.660***	

Age ²	-	0.958	0.981	0.987
Race (vs. Non-Hispanic White)				
Non-Hispanic Black	-	0.932	1.854*	1.888*
Hispanic	-	0.518***	1.001	1.025
Asian	-	1.256†	1.291	1.300
Other	-	0.451***	0.763	0.786
Married (vs. Not Married)	-	1.494***	1.427***	1.417***
Region (vs. Mexico)				
South/Central America	-	-	0.926	0.910
Europe	-	-	2.170**	2.081**
Asia	-	-	1.638†	1.600†
India/Middle East	-	-	1.954*	1.882*
Africa	-	-	1.018	0.985
NAO*	-	-	1.434	1.314
Visa (vs. Family Reunification)				
Employment	-	-	1.390†	1.266
Diversity	-	-	1.052	1.000
Refugee/Asylee	-	-	0.662**	0.653**
Other	-	-	1.035	1.036
Education (vs. High School or				
Less)				
College	-	-	-	1.104
Advanced	-	-	-	1.308*
		p<0.1†	p<0.05* p<0.01	** P<0.001***
		* NAO= North	n America, Arcti	c, and Oceania

6b: The Odds of Having Positive Mental Health by Type of Remittance Receiver (n=6,147)

	Model 1:	Model 2:	Model 3:	Model 4:
Remittance Sending				
Remitting (vs. Extended)				
Nuclear Family	0.849	0.902	0.932	0.933
Non-remitting	1.307*	1.446**	1.481***	1.484***
Female (vs. Male)	-	0.651***	0.656***	0.660***
Age ²	-	0.958	0.982	0.987
Race (vs. Non-Hispanic White)				
Non-Hispanic Black	-	0.93	1.850*	1.884*

Hispanic	-	0.518***	1.001	1.025
Asian	-	1.254†	1.289	1.298
Other	-	0.451***	0.763	0.786
Married (vs. Not Married)	-	1.494***	1.427***	1.417***
Region (vs. Mexico)				
South/Central America	-	-	0.926	0.910
Europe	-	-	2.170**	2.081**
Asia	-	-	1.640†	1.600+
India/Middle East	-	-	1.953*	1.880*
Africa	-	-	1.020	0.987
NAO*	-	-	1.435	1.315
Visa (vs. Family Reunification)				
Employment	-	-	1.390†	1.265
Diversity	-	-	1.052	1.000
Refugee/Asylee	-	-	0.662**	0.653**
Other	-	-	1.034	1.035
Education (vs. High School or				
Less)				
College	-	-	-	1.105
Advanced	-	-	-	1.307*
		p<0.1†	p<0.05* p<0.01	** P<0.001***
	* NAO= North America, Arctic, and Oceania			

In terms of the role of remittance magnitude (Table 7a), the results show that remitting below average amounts is associated with 36.3% lower odds of reporting positive mental health, compared to not remitting (p<0.001). Controlling for demographics in Model 2, remitting above average becomes significantly worse in terms of mental health outcomes. Controlling for SES (Model 4), remitting above average is associated with 30.8% lower odds of reporting positive mental health than not remitting, suggesting that while some migrants are able to share their recently gained access to higher incomes, remittance sending overall does not seem beneficial to one's mental health. Those remitting below average have 36.1% lower odds of reporting positive mental health then non-remitters (P<0.001) and remitting above average is associated

with 44.2% higher odds of reporting positive mental health, but this relationship loses significance with the first set of demographic controls (Table 7b, Model 2). It is important to note that the negative impact of remitting below average persists across models despite control variables. However, the negative impact of remitting above average only becomes apparent when controlling for background variables, suggesting a suppressor effect for these more advantaged individuals who can send above average amounts.

Table 7. Odds Ratios Predicting Positive Mental Health by Remittance Magnitude

7a: The Odds of Having Positive Mental Health by Remittance Magnitude				
(n=6,147)				
Remittance Sending	Model 1:	Model 2:	Model 3:	Model 4:
Remitting Magnitude (vs. Non-remitting)				
Above Average	0.918	0.732†	0.702*	0.692*
Below Average	0.637***	0.634***	0.637***	0.639***
Female (vs . Male)	-	0.654***	0.657***	0.662***
Age ²	-	0.955	0.979	0.985
Race (vs. Non-Hispanic White)				
Non-Hispanic Black	-	0.930	1.852*	1.886*
Hispanic	-	0.520***	1.002	1.026
Asian	-	1.257†	1.292	1.301
Other	-	0.451***	0.763	0.786
Married (vs. Not Married)	-	1.491***	1.425***	1.415***
Region (vs. Mexico)				
South/Central America	-	-	0.924	0.908
Europe	-	-	2.167**	2.079**
Asia	-	-	1.637†	1.598†
India/Middle East	-	-	1.950*	1.879*
Africa	-	-	1.014	0.982
NAO*	-	-	1.430	1.311
Visa (vs. Family Reunification)		-		

Employment	-	-	1.385	1.264
Diversity	-	-	1.050	0.999
Refugee/Asylee	-	-	0.662**	0.653**
Other	-	-	1.034	1.034
Education (vs. High School or Less)				
College	-	-	-	1.105
Advanced	-	-	-	1.305*
		p<0.1 [†] p<0.05* p<0.01** P<0.001***		
		* NAO= North America, Arctic, and Oceania		

7b: The Odds of Having Positive Mental Health by Remittance Magnitude (n=6,147)

	Model 2:	Model 3:	Model 4:	Model 5:
Remittance Sending				
Remitting Magnitude (vs. Below				
Average)				
Above Average	1.442*	1.155	1.103	1.083
Non-remitting	1.570***	1.576***	1.570***	1.564***
Female (vs. Male)	-	0.654***	0.657***	0.661***
Age ²	-	0.955	0.979	0.985
Race (vs. Non-Hispanic White)				
Non-Hispanic Black	-	0.929	1.848*	1.882*
Hispanic	-	0.521***	1.003	1.026
Asian	-	1.255†	1.290	1.300
Other	-	0.452***	0.763	0.786
Married (vs. Not Married)	-	1.491***	1.425***	1.415***
Region (vs. Mexico)				
South/Central America	-	-	0.924	0.908
Europe	-	-	2.168**	2.079**
Asia	-	-	1.638†	1.599†
India/Middle East	-	-	1.949*	1.878*
Africa	-	-	1.017	0.983
NAO*	-	-	1.431	1.312
Visa (vs. Family Reunification)	-	-		
Employment	-	-	1.383†	1.263
Diversity	-	-	1.049	0.999
Refugee/Asylee	-	-	0.662**	0.653**

Other	-	-	1.033	1.034	
Education (vs. High School or Less)					
College	-	-	-	1.105	
Advanced	-	-	-	1.303*	
	p<0.1 [†] p<0.05* p<0.01** P<0.001***				
		* NAO= North America, Arctic, and Oceania			

Overall, I find scant evidence of the positive mental health impact of remittances supporting some prior studies (Ambugo and Yahirun 2016; Amoyaw and Abada 2016). Visa type and region of origin have less central roles in predicting mental health, compared to their roles in predicting physical health, and thus are less influential in conditioning the relationship between remittance sending and mental health. The models demonstrate that the magnitude of remittances is somewhat important and remitting to extended family is slightly more detrimental then remitting to nuclear family but remitting in general puts migrants at a mental health disadvantage.

Chapter 6. Conclusions and Discussions

The billions of dollars sent annually by migrants to their respective countries of origin not only play a critical role in the global economy but also in the lives of those individuals saving and sending these monies. Remittances have been shown to improve health, development, and education for transnational families worldwide (Acosta et al. 2008; Adams and Cuecuecha 2010; Arif et al. 2019; Curran et al. 2003; Dreby and Stutz 2012; Frank et al. 2009; Hildebrandt et al. 2005; Lu and Treiman 2007; Maimbo and Ratha 2005; Ponce et al. 2011; Portes 2007; Semyonov and Gorodzeisky 2008; Vogel and Korinek 2012). However, the impact of remittances on the migrants that send them has seldom been analyzed. This underappreciation for the impact of remittances on those who send them is related to our understanding of immigrant health and the immigrant health paradox. Remittances act as another layer of responsibility for many migrants in the US and this could have health implications. Thus, it is important to explore the potential health impact that remittances have on migrants, many of whom have moral, community, cultural, and family obligations to consider. I focused on the association between remittances and the mental and physical health of U.S. based migrants that send them.

My study contributes to the understanding of remittances in two primary areas. First, I simultaneously looked at the mental and physical health of remittance sending migrants, which has to my knowledge never been done. This is important as remittance sending has the potential

of impacting both types of health in different ways. Second, I compared three distinct measures of remittance sending by looking at the presence of remitting, the magnitude of remittances, and the receivers of remittance transfers. These dimensions disentangled aspects of remittance sending that were most impactful to health. Examining only at the presence of remittances masked the differential impacts that these monies have when they are sent in lower or higher volumes (Massey and Parrado 1994). A migrant who sent higher amounts of money abroad or participated in this exchange more frequently, may be more impacted by his/her remittance sending than a migrant who sent a small amount of remittances one time at the behest of family members abroad. Additionally, family systems and friendship networks could place different responsibilities and demands on remitting migrants. Fulfillment of such demands may be important in understanding remittances' relation to health. A migrant may feel more duty in sending money to spouses and children, compared to sending money to friends. Knowing who remittances are sent to and the volume in which they are sent allows researchers to understand the potentially nuanced impact of these transfers for participating migrants.

Using data from the NIS, I found that, remittances play a role in the health of migrant populations in the US but with important variation by health outcome and along the axes of remittance magnitude and type. Compared to non-remitting migrants, remitters were less likely to exhibit positive physical or mental health. Further, whom remittances were sent to and the amount of money sent matters. Remitting to any receiver is worse than not remitting when it comes to migrant's mental health. One possibility for this pattern is that remitters have closer ties to their countries of origin and may thus have been more affected by the separation than non-remitters. In fact, Thoits states that strong or primary ties, such as those to significant others, are

instrumental to understanding health outcomes (Thoits 2011). Remitters could be more likely to have a close, consistent, contact with nuclear family members and increased contact with other remittance receivers, leading to worse mental health, regardless of whom remittance receiver groups.

Amount of remittances sent was also meaningful for predicting health outcomes.

Compared to remitters sending above average amounts and non-remitters, remitters who sent below average amounts experienced a physical health detriment associated with remitting. In the case of physical health, compared to non-remitters, remitters are less likely to report positive health. But compared to those remitting below average, remitters sending above average amounts are 1.32 times more likely to report positive physical health. Among remitters, remitting above average amounts produced better mental health outcomes than remitting below average (though the relationship lost significance with controls), which could potentially signify that the mental health bonus was reserved for high volume remitters. This bonus could be interpreted in regard to levels of fulfillment, as those who sent more money could view themselves as having more of a hand in helping family members abroad. However, this effect was rendered insignificant once controls were added to the model because the controls were themselves predictors of positive mental health.

Importantly, selection into remitting was not random. I found that the association between remittances and health outcomes was conditioned by selection into remitting, as migrants who were remitters tended to be more educated and more likely to come to the US on employment visas, both factors that are positively and significantly associated with better physical and mental health.

Ultimately, remitters experienced unique challenges to their health in the US, particularly as remittance sending is often a long-term commitment (Orozco and Burgess 2011), and health deteriorates with both age and with time in the US (Acevedo-Garcia et al. 2010). The relationship between remittance sending and health was complicated and multi-faceted. I find countervailing effects, as some aspects of remittance sending alleviate the mental and physical health burden and others expand remitter's financial responsibility across borders, embodying the difficulties of distance experienced by transnational families. Overall, I find remittance sending to be detrimental to migrant's mental health, echoing the work of Ambugo and Yahirun (2016) as well as that of Amoyaw and Abada (2016) when looking at recent migrants in Canada. My research is the first to find an association between remittances and migrants' physical health, with remitter's lower odds of having positive physical health. Going beyond existing studies, I find that remittance magnitude and types matter, as does selection into remitting. Seeking to understand these nuanced impacts of remittance sending on mental and physical health of migrants is crucial to improving long term migrant health and better understating the unique challenges facing some migrants in the US.

As such, remittance sending provides another layer of analysis for migrant's lives. As they move and integrate into the US, some migrants may face additional difficulties as they try to balance commitments between their new lives and family and friends back home. Remittances serve as a window into understanding these difficult but sometimes rewarding responsibilities. Yet most national surveys lack data on remittances, rendering this important aspect of some migrants' lives overlooked. As this research shows, remittance sending in as important

dimension to the lives of migrants that likely has impacts on their health and well-being and must therefore be considered in any future studies evaluating immigrant health and well-being.

Limitations and Future Research

While my findings add to the field by looking at more specific aspects of remittance sending (type and magnitude) and two health outcomes, my study has several limitations. Despite being nationally representative of LPRs, my data is limited to describing migrant populations over 15 years ago (2003) and significant populations shifts in the foreign born population by US tenure, age composition, visa makeup, and region of origin may make these findings slightly less representative of all current immigrant populations in the US (Radford and Noe-Bustamante 2019). Additionally, the NIS doesn't account for immigrants who are undocumented at the time of survey, although it does include information on those who began their lives in the U.S. undocumented and ultimately adjusted their status through a LPR visa. The burden of remitting on mental and physical health could be amplified by statuses associated with lower SES such as an undocumented status and under/unemployment. My data is also crosssectional, rather than longitudinal and longitudinal data are needed to understand how the health impacts of remittances unfold over time. Only having a snapshot greatly limits the possibility of untangling causality- does high remitting cause worse/better health or does better/worse health cause high remitting? Future longitudinal or qualitative research should further examine the directionality between remittance sending and health.

Additionally, both mental and physical health constantly change throughout the life course, so one point in time may not accurately capture these changes. Measuring self-rated

health only captures migrant's health at one point in time and is based on the non-medical opinion of respondents. However, self-rated health better predicts mortality than physician assessments (DeSalvo and Muntner 2011) and is independently an efficient global predictor of mortality (Idler and Benyamini 1997), supporting the measure. Further, immigrant's reference group for self-rated healthy may be non-migrants in their countries of origin (Rosenzweig et al. 2004). Thus, migrants rate their mental or physical health as good, it may be because compared to those in their country of origin it is good, but this may not be the case compared to those in the U.S. There is reason to believe that stratification would be even more drastic for the undocumented since they have limited ways of improving or protecting their health. As Fox (2016) shows, undocumented immigrants are excluded from the welfare system as well as social service provisions, both of which have improved the lives of millions of low income Americans yearly since the 1970s. Lastly, since less then 20% of the sample remits, the ability to look at smaller subsets of the sample of remitters are limited by sample size. For example, thinking of women's central role in long term caregiving (Browne and Braun 2008) we have reason to believe that remittances operate differently for female remitters sending to immediate family versus male remitters sending to a few friends. A broader initial sample of remitting immigrants is necessary to conduct these types of sub-analyses.

Furthermore, it may be that second-generation migrants continue remittance patterns and past research hints that these patterns may be different. Future research should look at these generational differences since the racialized and discriminatory experiences of second-generation immigrants look significantly different from those of the first generation (Portes 2007; Viruell-Fuentes and Schulz 2009), and discrimination impacts not only mental but also physical health

(Williams, Neighbors, and Jackson 2003). Additionally, another dimension that may be relevant for the impact of remittance sending on immigrant health is migrant's location in the US, especially in relation to the rural/urban divide as Viruell-Fuentes et al. (2012) suggest that different factors impact the health of rural migrant populations.

Immigrants represent upwards of 13.6% of America's population today (Radford and Noe-Bustamante 2019), yet use healthcare services at 50 to 75 cents on the dollar compared to US born populations (Ku 2009). Lower healthcare usage combined with some migrant's transnational responsibilities are likely two overlooked factors in our understanding of the health erosion experienced by migrants with time in the US. In conclusion, the results presented here suggest that remittance sending should be considered as a mechanism that may contribute to the challenges and health of US-based immigrants.

Bibliography

- Abas, Melanie A., Sureeporn Punpuing, Tawanchai Jirapramukpitak, Philip Guest, Kanchana Tangchonlatip, Morven Leese, and Martin Prince. 2009. "Rural–Urban Migration and Depression in Ageing Family Members Left Behind." *The British Journal of Psychiatry* 195(1):54–60.
- Abrego, Leisy. 2009. "Economic Well-Being in Salvadoran Transnational Families: How Gender Affects Remittance Practices." *Journal of Marriage & Family* 71(4):1070–85.
- Acevedo-Garcia, Dolores and Joanna Almeida. 2012. "Special Issue Introduction: Place, Migration and Health." *Social Science & Medicine* 75(12):2055–59.
- Acevedo-Garcia, Dolores, Lisa M. Bates, Theresa L. Osypuk, and Nancy McArdle. 2010. "The Effect of Immigrant Generation and Duration on Self-Rated Health among US Adults 2003–2007." *Social Science & Medicine* 71(6):1161–72.
- Acevedo-Garcia, Dolores, Emma V. Sanchez-Vaznaugh, Edna A. Viruell-Fuentes, and Joanna Almeida. 2012. "Integrating Social Epidemiology into Immigrant Health Research: A Cross-National Framework." *Social Science & Medicine* 75(12):2060–68.
- Acosta, Pablo, Cesar Calderón, Pablo Fajnzylber, and Humberto Lopez. 2008. "What Is the Impact of International Remittances on Poverty and Inequality in Latin America?" *World Development* 36(1):89–114.
- Adams, Richard H. and Alfredo Cuecuecha. 2010. "Remittances, Household Expenditure and Investment in Guatemala." *World Development* 38(11):1626–41.
- åKesson, Lisa. 2009. "Remittances and Inequality in Cape Verde: The Impact of Changing Family Organization." *Global Networks* 9(3):381–98.
- Ambugo, Eliva and Jenjira Yahirun. 2016. "Remittances and Risk of Major Depressive Episode and Sadness among New Legal Immigrants to the United States." *Demographic Research* 34:243–58.
- Amoyaw, Jonathan Anim and Teresa Abada. 2016. "Does Helping Them Benefit Me? Examining the Emotional Cost and Benefit of Immigrants' Pecuniary Remittance Behaviour in Canada." *Social Science & Medicine* 153:182–92.
- Amuedo-Dorantes, Catalina, Cynthia Bansak, and Susan Pozo. 2005. "On the Remitting Patterns of Immigrants: Evidence from Mexican Survey Data." *Economic Review (Atlanta, Ga.)*, January, 37–52.

- Anderson, Norman B., Rodolfo A. Bulatao, Barney Cohen, and Ethnicity National Research Council Panel on Race. 2004. *Race/Ethnicity, Socioeconomic Status, and Health*. National Academies Press.
- Antman, Francisca M. 2010. "Adult Child Migration and the Health of Elderly Parents Left Behind in Mexico." *American Economic Review* 100(2):205–8.
- Arif, Imtiaz, Syed Ali Raza, Anita Friemann, and Muhammad Tahir Suleman. 2019. "The Role of Remittances in the Development of Higher Education: Evidence from Top Remittance Receiving Countries." *Social Indicators Research* 141(3):1233–43.
- Bacallao, Martica L. and Paul R. Smokowski. 2007. "The Costs of Getting Ahead: Mexican Family System Changes After Immigration." *Family Relations* 56(1):52–66.
- Becerra, David and Elizabeth Kiehne. 2016. "Assessing the Relationship between Remittance Receipt and Migration Intentions among Mexican Adolescents Living along the U.S.-Mexico Border." Análisis de La Relación Entre La Recepción de Remesas y Las Intenciones de Migrar Entre Los Adolescentes Mexicanos Que Viven En La Frontera México-Estados Unidos. 11(2):7–30.
- Braveman, Paula A., Catherine Cubbin, Susan Egerter, David R. Williams, and Elsie Pamuk. 2010. "Socioeconomic Disparities in Health in the United States: What the Patterns Tell Us." *American Journal of Public Health* 100(S1):S186–96.
- Browne, C. V. and K. L. Braun. 2008. "Globalization, Women's Migration, and the Long-Term-Care Workforce." *The Gerontologist* 48(1):16–24.
- Carling, Jørgen. 2014. "Scripting Remittances: Making Sense of Money Transfers in Transnational Relationships." *International Migration Review* 48(s1):S218–62.
- Chandola, Tarani and Crispin Jenkinson. 2000. "Validating Self-Rated Health in Different Ethnic Groups." *Ethnicity & Health* 5(2):151–59.
- Curran, Sara R., Chang Y. Chung, Wendy Cadge, and Anchalee Varangrat. 2003. "Educational Opportunities For Boys and Girls in Thailand." *Research in Sociology of Education* 14:59–102.
- Derose, Kathryn Pitkin, José J. Escarce, and Nicole Lurie. 2007. "Immigrants and Health Care: Sources of Vulnerability." *Health Affairs (Project Hope)* 26(5):1258–68.
- DeSalvo, Karen B. and Paul Muntner. 2011. "Discordance Between Physician and Patient Self-Rated Health and All-Cause Mortality." *The Ochsner Journal* 11(3):232–40.
- Dreby, Joanna and Lindsay Stutz. 2012. "Making Something of the Sacrifice: Gender, Migration and Mexican Children's Educational Aspirations." *Global Networks* 12(1):71–90.

- Durand, Jorge and Douglas S. Massey. 1992. "Mexican Migration to the United States: A Critical Review." *Latin American Research Review* 27(2):3.
- Duryea, Suzanne, Ernesto Lopez-Cardova, and Alexandra Olmedo. 2005. "Migrant Remittances and Infant Mortality: Evidence from Mexico." *Inter-American Development Bank: Mimeographed.*
- Edwards, Alejandra Cox and Manuelita Ureta. 2003. "International Migration, Remittances, and Schooling: Evidence from El Salvador." *Journal of Development Economics* 72(2):429–61.
- Egede, Leonard E. 2006. "Race, Ethnicity, Culture, and Disparities in Health Care." *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 21(6):667.
- Fox, Cybelle. 2016. "Unauthorized Welfare: The Origins of Immigrant Status Restrictions in American Social Policy." *Journal of American History* 102(4):1051–74.
- Frank, Reanne and Robert A. Hummer. 2002. "The Other Side of the Paradox: The Risk of Low Birth Weight among Infants of Migrant and Nonmigrant Households within Mexico." *International Migration Review* 36(3):746–65.
- Frank, Reanne, Oswaldo Palma-Coca, Juan Rauda-Esquivel, Gustavo Olaiz-Fernândez, Claudia Dfaz-Olavarrieta, and Dolores Acevedo-Garcfa. 2009. "The Relationship Between Remittances and Health Care Provision in Mexico." *American Journal of Public Health* 99(7):1227–31.
- Guarnizo, Luis Eduardo. 2003. "The Economics of Transnational Living1." *International Migration Review* 37(3):666–99.
- Hernandez, Lyla M., Dan G. Blazer, and Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Assessing Interactions Among Social Behavioral and Genetic Factors in Health Interactions Among Social. 2006. *The Impact of Social and Cultural Environment on Health*. National Academies Press (US).
- Hildebrandt, Nicole, David J. McKenzie, Gerardo Esquivel, and Ernesto Schargrodsky. 2005. "The Effects of Migration on Child Health in Mexico [with Comments]." *Economía* 6(1):257.
- Houle, René and Grant Schellenberg. 2008. "Remittance Behaviours Among Recent Immigrants in Canada." 41.
- Idler, Ellen L. and Yael Benyamini. 1997. "Self-Rated Health and Mortality: A Review of Twenty-Seven Community Studies." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 38(1):21–37.

- Irwin, Charles E., Sally H. Adams, M. Jane Park, and Paul W. Newacheck. 2009. "Preventive Care for Adolescents: Few Get Visits and Fewer Get Services." *Pediatrics* 123(4):e565–72.
- Joarder, Mohammad Abdul Munim, Mark Harris, and Alfred M. Dockery. 2017. "Remittances and Happiness of Migrants and Their Home Households: Evidence Using Matched Samples." *The Journal of Development Studies* 53(3):422–43.
- Kanaiaupuni, Shawn Malia and Katharine M. Donato. 1999. "Migradollars and Mortality: The Effects of Migration on Infant Survival in Mexico." *Demography (Pre-2011); Silver Spring* 36(3):339–53.
- Kim, Giyeon, Claudia X. Aguado Loi, David A. Chiriboga, Yuri Jang, Patricia Parmelee, and Rebecca S. Allen. 2011. "Limited English Proficiency as a Barrier to Mental Health Service Use: A Study of Latino and Asian Immigrants with Psychiatric Disorders." *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 45(1):104–10.
- Krogstad, Jens Manuel and Jynnah Radford. 2018. "Education Levels of U.S. Immigrants Are on the Rise." *Pew Research Center*. Retrieved September 28, 2019 (https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2018/09/14/education-levels-of-u-s-immigrants-are-on-the-rise/).
- Ku, Leighton. 2009. "Health Insurance Coverage and Medical Expenditures of Immigrants and Native-Born Citizens in the United States." *American Journal of Public Health* 99(7):1322–28.
- Lindstrom, David P. and Elisa Muñoz-Franco. 2006. "Migration and Maternal Health Services Utilization in Rural Guatemala." *Social Science & Medicine* 63(3):706–21.
- Lu, Yao and Donald J. Treiman. 2007. "The Effect of Labor Migration and Remittances on Children's Education Among Blacks in South Africa."
- Luna, Kausha. 2017. "Remittances from the U.S. Discourage Mexicans from Working." *CIS.Org*. Retrieved April 23, 2019 (https://cis.org/Luna/Remittances-US-Discourage-Mexicans-Working).
- Maimbo, Samuel Munzele and Dilip Ratha. 2005. *Remittances: Development Impact and Future Prospects*. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Majerol, Melissa, Jennifer Tolbert, and Anthony Damico. 2016. "Health Care Spending Among Low-Income Households with and without Medicaid." *The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation*. Retrieved November 15, 2017 (https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/health-care-spending-among-low-income-households-with-and-without-medicaid/).

- Makina, Daniel. 2013. "Migration and Characteristics of Remittance Senders in South Africa." *International Migration* 51(s1):e148–58.
- Marchetti-Mercer, Maria. 2016. "'If You Uproot a Tree You Leave a Big Hole Behind': Systemic Interconnectedness in Emigration and Family Life." *Contemporary Family Therapy: An International Journal* 38(3):339–52.
- Massey, Douglas S. and Emilio Parrado. 1994. "Migradollars: The Remittances and Savings of Mexican Migrants to the USA." *Population Research and Policy Review* 13(1):3–30.
- McKenzie, Sean and Cecilia Menjívar. 2011. "The Meanings of Migration, Remittances and Gifts: Views of Honduran Women Who Stay." *Global Networks* 11(1):63–81.
- Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission. 2018. "State and Federal Spending under the ACA: MACPAC." Retrieved February 12, 2019 (https://www.macpac.gov/subtopic/state-and-federal-spending-under-the-aca/).
- Miilunpalo, Seppo, Ilkka Vuori, Pekka Oja, Matti Pasanen, and Helka Urponen. 1997. "Self-Rated Health Status as a Health Measure: The Predictive Value of Self-Reported Health Status on the Use of Physician Services and on Mortality in the Working-Age Population." *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 50(5):517–28.
- Mohapatra, Sanket, Dilip Ratha, and Ani Silwal. 2011. "Outlook for Remittance Flows 2012-14: Remittance Flows to Developing Countries Exceed \$350 Billion in 2011."
- Mossakowski, Krysia N. 2003. "Coping with Perceived Discrimination: Does Ethnic Identity Protect Mental Health?" *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 44(3):318–31.
- Mossey, J. M. and E. Shapiro. 1982. "Self-Rated Health: A Predictor of Mortality among the Elderly." *American Journal of Public Health* 72(8):800–808.
- Nguyen, Cuong Viet and Hoa Quynh Nguyen. 2015. "Do Internal and International Remittances Matter to Health, Education and Labor of Children and Adolescents? The Case of Vietnam." *Children and Youth Services Review* 58:28–34.
- Orozco, Manuel and Elisabeth Burgess. 2011. "A Commitment Amidst Shared Hardship: Haitian Transnational Migrants and Remittances." *Journal of Black Studies* 42(2):225–46.
- Painter, Matthew A. and Zhenchao Qian. 2016. "Wealth Inequality among New Immigrants." *Sociological Perspectives* 59(2):368–94.
- Pampel, Fred C., Patrick M. Krueger, and Justin T. Denney. 2010. "Socioeconomic Disparities in Health Behaviors." *Annual Review of Sociology* 36:349–70.
- Parker, Kim and Renee Stepler. 2017. "As U.S. Marriage Rate Hovers at 50%, Education Gap in Marital Status Widens." *Pew Research Center*. Retrieved April 23, 2019

- (https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/09/14/as-u-s-marriage-rate-hovers-at-50-education-gap-in-marital-status-widens/).
- Parra-Cardona, José Rubén, Laurie A. Bulock, David R. Imig, Francisco A. Villarruel, and Steven J. Gold. 2006. "Trabajando Duro Todos Los Días': Learning From the Life Experiences of Mexican-Origin Migrant Families." *Family Relations* 55(3):361–75.
- Pearlin, Leonard I. 1989. "The Sociological Study of Stress." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 241–256.
- Pew Research Center. 2018. "Remittance Flows Worldwide in 2016." Retrieved November 4, 2018 (http://www.pewglobal.org/interactives/remittance-map/).
- Ponce, Juan, Iliana Olivié, and Mercedes Onofa. 2011. "The Role of International Remittances in Health Outcomes in Ecuador: Prevention and Response to Shocks." *International Migration Review* 45(3):727–45.
- Portes, Alejandro. 1997. "Immigration Theory for a New Century: Some Problems and Opportunities." *International Migration Review* 31(4):799.
- Portes, Alejandro. 2003. "Conclusion: Theoretical Convergencies and Empirical Evidence in the Study of Immigrant Transnationalism." *The International Migration Review: IMR; New York* 37(3):874–92.
- Portes, Alejandro. 2007. "Migration, Development, and Segmented Assimilation: A Conceptual Review of the Evidence." *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 610:73–97.
- Portes, Alejandro, Luis Eduardo Guarnizo, and Patricia Landolt. 1999. "The Study of Transnationalism: Pitfalls and Promise of an Emergent Research Field." *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 22(2):217–37.
- Portes, Alejandro and Rubén G. Rumbaut. 2014. *Immigrant America: A Portrait*. Vol. Fourth edition, revised, updated, and expanded. Berkeley and Los Angeles, California: University of California Press.
- Radford, Jynnah and Noe Noe-Bustamante. 2019. "Immigrants in America: Key Charts and Facts | Pew Research Center." Retrieved June 18, 2019 (https://www.pewhispanic.org/2019/06/03/facts-on-u-s-immigrants/).
- Reichert, Joshua S. 1981. "The Migrant Syndrome: Seasonal U. S. Wage Labor and Rural Development in Central Mexico." *Human Organization; Washington, D.C.* 40(1):56–66.
- Riosmena, Fernando, Randall Kuhn, and Warren C. Jochem. 2017. "Explaining the Immigrant Health Advantage: Self-Selection and Protection in Health-Related Factors Among Five

- Major National-Origin Immigrant Groups in the United States." *Demography* 54(1):175–200.
- Rosenzweig, Mark, James Smith, Douglas S. Massey, and Guillermina Jasso. 2004. *Immigrant Health: Selectivity and Acculturation. Working Paper Series*.
- Semyonov, Moshe and Anastasia \. Gorodzeisky. 2008. "Labor Migration, Remittances and Economic Well-Being of Households in the Philippines." *Population Research and Policy Review* 27(5):619.
- Sidloyi, Sinethemba S. and Nolunkcwe J. Bomela. 2016. "Survival Strategies of Elderly Women in Ngangelizwe Township, Mthatha, South Africa: Livelihoods, Social Networks and Income." *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics* 62:43–52.
- Simon, Robin W. 1995. "Gender, Multiple Roles, Role Meaning, and Mental Health." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 36(2):182–94.
- Stringhini, Silvia, Aline Dugravot, Martin Shipley, Marcel Goldberg, Marie Zins, Mika Kivimäki, Michael Marmot, Séverine Sabia, and Archana Singh-Manoux. 2011. "Health Behaviours, Socioeconomic Status, and Mortality: Further Analyses of the British Whitehall II and the French GAZEL Prospective Cohorts." *PLOS Medicine* 8(2):e1000419.
- Taylor, J. Edward. 1992. "Remittances and Inequality Reconsidered: Direct, Indirect, and Intertemporal Effects." *Journal of Policy Modeling* 14(2):187–208.
- Thoits, Peggy A. 2011. "Mechanisms Linking Social Ties and Support to Physical and Mental Health." *Journal Of Health And Social Behavior* 52(2):145–61.
- VanWey, Leah Karin. 2004. "Altruistic and Contractual Remittances Between Male and Female Migrants and Households in Rural Thailand." *Demography* 41(4):739–56.
- Viruell-Fuentes, Edna A., Patricia Y. Miranda, and Sawsan Abdulrahim. 2012. "More than Culture: Structural Racism, Intersectionality Theory, and Immigrant Health." *Social Science & Medicine* 75(12):2099–2106.
- Viruell-Fuentes, Edna A. and Amy J. Schulz. 2009. "Toward a Dynamic Conceptualization of Social Ties and Context: Implications for Understanding Immigrant and Latino Health." *American Journal of Public Health; Washington* 99(12):2167–75.
- Vogel, Ann and Kim Korinek. 2012. "Passing by the Girls? Remittance Allocation for Educational Expenditures and Social Inequality in Nepal's Households 2003—2004." *International Migration Review* 46(1):61–100.

- Williams, David R., Harold W. Neighbors, and James S. Jackson. 2003. "Racial/Ethnic Discrimination and Health: Findings from Community Studies." *American Journal of Public Health; Washington* 93(2):200–208.
- Zarate-Hoyos, German A. 2004. "Consumption and Remittances in Migrant Households: Toward a Productive Use of Remittances." *Contemporary Economic Policy* 22(4):555–65.